ROMEO MORGAN

Appellant

V.

D.C. DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS, et al.

Appellees

ON APPEAL FROM THE D.C. SUPERIOR COURT (Judge Hiram E. Puig-Lugo) CASE NO. 2021 CAB 3660

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BY
Kellee Baker
Bar No. 992003
KB Law Firm
7600 Ora Glen Drive #1691
Greenbelt, MD 20768
(301) 467-5856
kblawfirm@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellant

CERTIFICATE AS TO PARTIES RULINGS AND RELATED CASES

Pursuant to DC Ct App Rule 28, Counsel for the Appellant, Kellee Baker, hereby certifies to the following:

A. PARTIES, COUNSEL AND AMICI

The names of the parties in this appeal, who either appeared or were named in the D.C. Superior Court as parties, were:

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

On February 8, 2022, Associate Judge Hiram E. Puig-Lugo for the District of Columbia Superior Court signed an order granting Appellee's Motion to Dismiss and on March 22, 2022, an order denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration (to Alter or Amend Judgment), constituting a final order closing the case.

Appellate jurisdiction of this Court is granted under D.C. Code §11-721(a)(1) which states that "The District of Columbia Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of appeals from —all final orders and judgments of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia."

STATEMENT OF STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Superior Court denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration based solely on legal conclusions, as there was no hearing or findings of fact. Therefore, this court should review the trial court's legal conclusions *de novo*.

The standard of review for dismissal of an action is "beyond doubt." In *Oparaugo v. Watts*, the Court proclaimed that it "adhere[s] to the standard of whether, construing the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, 'it appears beyond doubt that [plaintiff] can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief'." 884 A.2d 63 (D.C. 2005) (emphasis added), (quoting *Crowley v. North Am. Telecomms. Ass'n*, 691 A.2d 1169, 1172-73 n. 2 (D.C.1997), quoting *McBryde v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 404 A.2d 200, 202 (D.C.1979)).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the vacant tax assessment Appellant's property should be deemed void *ab initio*, therefore invoking Appellant's right to equitable relief without requiring statutory remedies.
- 2. Whether construing the complaint in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, it appears beyond doubt that Plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim that would show that he endured exceptional and extraordinary circumstances related to the taxation of his property during the State of Emergency to invoke the equitable jurisdiction of the court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Appellant, Romeo Morgan, is the fifth-generation owner of 3200 Georgia Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20010 ("Property"). Since the 1920s, the Property housed the family-owned restaurant, Morgan's Seafood. For two years prior to the District of Columbia's State of Emergency, the Property was undergoing renovations, limiting the restaurant's service to catering.

The District of Columbia's Coronovirus/COVID-19 State of Emergency ("Pandemic" or "Shut-Down") was declared on March 11, 2020. The District of Columbia enacted a law that declared that properties housed by commercial

businesses that were closed from March 11, 2020 to November 5, 2021 were exempt from vacant classification, however, on or about April 12, 2020, the District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA) classified Appellant's Property as vacant causing the real property tax liability to triple. When Appellant wished to pay his property taxes, the tax office was closed due to the Shut Down. Appellant did not know that his property was not exempt from the vacant classification and believed his taxes would remain the same.

It was not until October 2021 that Appellant found out that his property was set to be auctioned at the tax sale on October 13, 2021. When Appellant went to the recently opened District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue ("Tax Office") on October 12, 2021 to pay the Property's tax bill, it was approximately \$100,000 instead of the normal \$50,000. Appellant paid \$50,000 to the Tax Office, and the Property moved forward to be auctioned at the tax sale the next day.

On October 12, 2021, Appellant went to the Superior Court and filed a complaint for an injunction of the tax sale, *pro se*. An amended complaint was filed with legal counsel on December 6, 2021. Defendants / Appellee's filed a motion to dismiss because Appellant failed to exhaust his administrative remedies to challenge the tax liability. The Appellant opposed. The court granted the dismissal. Appellant requested the court's reconsideration and the court upheld its dismissal. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

DCRA's declaration of the Property's vacant classification is void *ab initio*;

Appellant endured exceptional and extraordinary circumstances due to the Shut

Down (the Shut Down itself was an exception and extraordinary circumstance)

During the Shut Down, the District of Columbia enacted D.C. Code §42-3131.06 (b) (10) which states that "A vacant building shall not be included on the [Vacant Property] list ...if it is [a] commercial property that houses a business that closed between March 11, 2020 and November 5, 2021." The Property housed Morgan's Seafood that closed in March 2020. DCRA declaring the Property vacant on or about April 12, 2020 is in direct conflict with the law and should be deemed void *ab initio*.

In *District of Columbia v. Green*, it was determined to be improper for the District to charge different tax rates for properties in the same tax classification, 310 A.2d 848, 852 (D.C. 1973). In *Green*, the District challenged the jurisdiction of the trial court to determine the claims of the six appellees who failed to exhaust their administrative remedies per D.C. Code. The District also challenged a class of appellees whose opportunity to challenge was not yet ripe because when October 1 of that year came, that class could use the administrative process to challenge their tax rate. The *Green* court determined: "[W]here complainant shows that in addition to the illegality of an exaction in the guise of a tax there exist special and

extraordinary circumstances sufficient to bring the case within some acknowledged head of equity jurisprudence, a suit may be maintained to enjoin the collector. . ." *Id.* at 852. quoting *Miller v. Standard Nut Margarine Co.*, 284 U.S. 498, 509, 52 S.Ct. 260, 263, 76 L.Ed. 422 (1932).

In the light most favorable to the Plaintiff / Appellant, Morgan's Seafood was a business that shut down after March 11, 2020 and the Shut Down was a special and extraordinary event that caused him to not know about and therefore challenge his new tax liability during the Pandemic. Businesses already had to deal with the lack of income during the Pandemic and to deem a property vacant triple one's property taxes is an undue burden that does not fit withing the intent of the law. Further, for 100 years, the Morgan family has been able to maintain the property taxes on the Property, evidenced by Appellant being able to pay the normal \$50,000 amount prior to the tax sale. But the extraordinary event which was the Pandemic caused a lack of access and communication for a man who is not computer literate.

The Appellee's presented facts in its Motion to Dismiss that there were hundreds of thousands of phone calls fielded and tens of thousands of written responses answered during the Tax Office's closure. These facts are not validated and accepting them are not in a light most favorable to Plaintiff / Appellant. The court should have determined specifically Mr. Morgan's circumstances as presented and allowed him to testify to his experiences during the Shut Down. If he visited

the Tax Office in person for over 40 years, should he have even known that writing a letter was effective? Did he call the tax office and receive no answer or did he speak to someone that had no knowledge of his new tax classification? There are so many facts that have yet to be determined prior to dismissal of the case, and in the light most favorable to Plaintiff / Appellant, the case should have moved forward in equity or to at least make a finding of fact to determine if equity is proper.

CONCLUSION

It would be false to classify the Pandemic as anything but extraordinary in our lifetime. Now more than ever does the court need to offer more equity and less strict statutory adherence to those affected by the Pandemic. Property owners should not lose their 100-year inheritances to property taxes without an equitable eye. Most importantly, if citizens are faced with strict adherence to statutory law, the District should be strictly bound as well.

The court should determine that DCRA's vacant classification of the Appellant's Property after March 11, 2020 was improper violative of the Mayor's directive. If it is improper, Appellant should be able to invoke the equitable jurisdiction of the court and challenge his exuberant tax bill without having to exhaust administrative remedies. The Court should also find that the Shut Down was also extraordinary and that being able to exhaust administrative remedies could

have been burdensome or at least confusing to some and that the rights in property outweigh following an administrative process during a government Shut Down.