# IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Clerk of the Court Received 02/06/2023 11:03 AM

Filed 02/06/2023 11:03 AM

### ROMEO MORGAN, APPELLANT,

V.

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS, et al., APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEES**

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

THAIS-LYN TRAYER Deputy Solicitor General

\*STACY L. ANDERSON Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

right of redemption. RD 23; see D.C. Code § 47-1360 (granting the owner of property, or other person who has an interest in the real property, a right of redemption, which continues until the foreclosure of the right of redemption is final).

In Count I of his complaint, Mr. Morgan sought a declaration that DCRA's purported 2020 designation of his property as vacant was erroneous because the property was exempt from inclusion on the vacant property list under the exemption for businesses that closed during the pandemic. SA 7-8. In Count II, he sought a partial refund of the \$50,000 in taxes he paid based on DCRA's allegedly erroneous designation of his property as vacant. SA 8-9. In Count III, he asked the court to set aside the tax sale because the taxes due were based on DCRA's erroneous inclusion of his property on the vacant property list. SA 9-10. He maintained that if Class 2 property taxes had been assessed, his property would not have been subjected to a tax sale—presumably because he would have paid those taxes. SA 9.4

Notably, Mr. Morgan did not acknowledge DCRA's 2019 vacant property determination in his amended complaint. Nor did he allege:

In the Superior Court, Mr. Morgan did not explain his failure to timely pay his 2020 and 2021 taxes, even in the amount he believed he owed. On appeal and for the first time, he maintains that he could not pay his taxes because OTR's offices were closed during the pandemic. Br. 9. But he could have mailed his tax payment to OTR. See SA 38 (instructing Mr. Morgan to pay his taxes by mail by sending a check and the payment coupon to OTR in the envelope provided).

- that the purported notice of designation he received in 2020 failed to advise him of his appeal rights or was otherwise deficient;
- that he sought reconsideration of DCRA's designation of his property as vacant (in 2019 or 2020) and obtained a final determination from DCRA that was needed to appeal to the Commission;
- that he appealed to the Commission to challenge DCRA's final determination (in 2019 or 2020);
- that his post-construction catering and take-out operations satisfied the requirements for the property to be considered occupied in 2018, 2019, and 2020, including that he possessed a valid certificate of occupancy for these operations and other required indicia of use;
- that he requested DCRA to remove the 2019 vacant property designation;
- that he asked DCRA to apply the COVID-19 pandemic exemption to exclude his property from the vacant property list provided to OTR for tax year 2020;
- that he tried but failed to contact DCRA during the pandemic.

### SA 1-11.

# 5. The District's Motion To Dismiss For Lack Of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

The District moved to dismiss Mr. Morgan's amended complaint under Superior Court Civil Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction based on

his failure to exhaust his administrative remedies. SA 12. The District argued that the Superior Court lacked jurisdiction because Mr. Morgan had not appealed to the Commission before suing, which was a jurisdictional prerequisite to judicial review. SA 12. For support, the District mainly relied on D.C. Code § 47-825.01a(g)(1). SA 16-18. This statute provides:

Except as provided in § 47-830 or paragraph (2) of this subsection, an owner aggrieved by a proposed assessed value or classification may appeal the proposed assessed value or classification to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in §§ 47-3303 and 47-3304 by September 30 of the tax year; provided, that the owner shall have in good faith first appealed the assessed value or classification to the Commission immediately preceding the appeal to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.

### D.C. Code § 47-825.01a(g)(1) (emphasis added).

This provision addresses the exhaustion requirement for classification appeals through OTR's administrative review process under Section 47-825.01a(d). But here, Mr. Morgan is challenging DCRA's vacant property designation and the inclusion of his property on the vacant property list. SA 1 (asking the Superior Court to "declare that the classification of his building as vacant by [DCRA] was improper"), 8-9. In that situation, "[t]he determination that real property belongs on a list compiled under § 42-3131.16 or § 42-3131.17 (and, indirectly, its Class 3 or 4 Property classification) shall only be appealed as prescribed under § 42-3131.15, notwithstanding any other provision of law." D.C. Code § 47-813(d-1)(4A). As explained, D.C. Code § 42-3131.15 permits appeals from vacant property

designations to DCRA and then the Commission. Further appeals are governed by subsection (g)(2), rather than (g)(1), of Section § 47-825.01a:

An owner aggrieved by a decision of the Commission, with respect to ... a notice issued pursuant to § 42-3131.15, may appeal the decision of the Commission to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in §§ 47-3303 and 47-3304 by September 30 of the tax year in which the decision of the Commission is issued or within 6 months after the date of the decision of the Commission, whichever is later.

### *Id.* § 47-825.01a(g)(2) (emphasis added).

The two provisions in subsection (g), however, are not materially different. Both require a taxpayer to appeal to the Commission from the respective agency, and with reference to Section 47-3303, to pay the outstanding tax liability in full before appealing to the Superior Court.

Mr. Morgan filed a verified opposition to the District's motion to dismiss. SA 28. Mr. Morgan understood that the District was moving to dismiss his complaint "because he failed to exhaust his administrative remedies by bringing his initial challenges related to his tax issues to DC government agencies." SA 28. Mr. Morgan did not claim to have exhausted his administrative remedies, but relying on *District of Columbia v. Green*, 310 A.2d 848 (D.C. 1973), argued that "special and extraordinary" circumstances warranted the court excusing this failure. SA 30-31. In particular, Mr. Morgan identified DCRA's purported illegal designation of his property during the pandemic as vacant as the "special and extraordinary

circumstance" that warranted equitable relief. SA 31. He stressed that OTR's physical offices were closed during the pandemic; claimed he could not reach anyone there by telephone; and maintained he lacked the necessary computer literacy and access to use OTR's online portal, all to show he had no effective administrative remedy. SA 31-33.<sup>5</sup> Mr. Morgan also maintained that it would be futile to seek relief from the agencies now, pointing to delays in OTR's administrative review process, but not addressing the process for reviewing DCRA's vacant property determination. SA 34.

In reply, the District highlighted the fact that *Green*'s "special and extraordinary circumstances" standard had been questioned by subsequent decisions from this Court. SA 40. In addition, the District presented evidence that in fiscal year 2020, although OTR's physical offices were closed during the pandemic, it answered 439,442 taxpayer telephone calls, replied to 82,274 written correspondences, processed 1,092,583 tax returns, and issued 314,846 tax refunds. SA 41. And it emphasized that Mr. Morgan could have challenged DCRA's determination that his property was vacant or sought an exemption from its inclusion

Mr. Morgan did not specify how or when he received DCRA's 2020 vacant property designation, nor did he include it among his exhibits. In his opposition, he suggested that, because of the pandemic, the notice he received from DCRA (and from OTR about the tax sale in 2021) was possibly inadequate, but he did not allege facts showing that the notice was actually deficient. SA 33.

on the vacant property list, like he had for 2018 and 2019, but he failed to do so. SA 41.

# 6. The Superior Court's Decision And Mr. Morgan's Motion For Reconsideration.

The Superior Court granted the District's motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. SA 45-48. In doing so, it first observed that "[w]hen a statute requires exhaustion of administrative remedies prior to filing suit, '[s]ubject matter jurisdiction of the Superior Court does not attach until that [administrative review] prerequisite has been satisfied[.]" SA 45-46 (quoting *District of Columbia v. Craig*, 930 A.2d 946, 954 (D.C. 2007)). It also determined that it was Mr. Morgan's burden to show that he complied with the statutory exhaustion requirements because the court could not excuse them. SA 46.

The court found that Mr. Morgan did not dispute that he failed to exhaust his administrative remedies before filing suit but sought an equitable exception to the exhaustion requirement. SA 46. The court declined to find an exception, concluding that the fact that OTR's physical offices were closed during the pandemic was not enough to warrant relief. SA 46-47. Even accepting that Mr. Morgan could not reach anyone at OTR by telephone and could not access OTR's online portal, the court found that Mr. Morgan "could have submitted a *written correspondence* to either [OTR or the Commission]." SA 47. The court also found that Mr. Morgan could have filed a request for reconsideration with DCRA after it designated his

property as vacant, but he chose not to do this and provided no reason for his failure. SA 47. Because Mr. Morgan failed to make these efforts, the court declined to find extraordinary circumstances to exercise jurisdiction. SA 47.

Mr. Morgan filed a motion to alter or amend the court's judgment under Superior Court Civil Rule 59(e). He argued that the court erred by failing to view the record in the light most favorable to him and maintained that the pandemic was an exceptional and extraordinary circumstance on which the court should have relied to excuse his failure to exhaust his administrative remedies. SA 49, 51-53. The Superior Court denied this motion, finding that Mr. Morgan's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies warranted dismissal of his suit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. SA 66-67. In addition, the court found that Mr. Morgan had given it no reason to disturb its prior ruling that extraordinary circumstances did not exist to justify the exercise of equitable jurisdiction. SA 67.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Superior Court granted the District's motion to dismiss Mr. Morgan's complaint under Superior Court Civil Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. SA 46-47. This Court reviews the Superior Court's ruling de novo because it involves a question of law. *Heard v. Johnson*, 810 A.2d 871, 877 (D.C. 2002).

Mr. Morgan erroneously relies on the standard of review for a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim for relief. Br. 7 (quoting *Oparaugo v*. Watts, 884 A.2d 63, 77 (D.C. 2005), a case that was on appeal from an order granting a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss), 11-12 (asserting that his allegation should be viewed "[i]n the light most favorable" to himself). To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1), a plaintiff bears the burden of proving jurisdictional facts, and these facts are not construed in the plaintiff's favor. Pardue v. Ctr. City Consortium Schs. of the Archdiocese of Wash., Inc., 875 A.2d 669, 674-75 (D.C. 2005). In a "factual' attack" on the court's subject matter jurisdiction, where the plaintiff's allegations are not controlling, matters outside the pleadings are properly considered without converting the motion to one for summary judgment. Heard, 810 A.2d at 878; Matthews v. Automated Bus. Sys. & Servs., Inc., 558 A.2d 1175, 1179 n.7 (D.C. 1989).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Superior Court correctly dismissed Mr. Morgan's amended complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Mr. Morgan sought a refund and to enjoin the collection of real property taxes, but he did not satisfy the jurisdictional prerequisites for judicial review. Mr. Morgan had to exhaust his administrative remedies by appealing DCRA's vacant building determination to the Commission, but he failed to do so. In fact, he never obtained a final determination from DCRA about its

vacant building designation and so was never in a position to satisfy the requirements for Commission review, let alone Superior Court review. Mr. Morgan also failed to pay the assessed taxes, interest, and penalties before suing, which was an independent jurisdictional requirement for Superior Court review.

Mr. Morgan does not dispute that he failed to satisfy these jurisdictional predicates for judicial review. Instead, he maintains that he met the criteria for an equitable exception to the exhaustion requirement that would have allowed the Superior Court to enjoin the payment of taxes. But this is not the case. To do so, Mr. Morgan had to show that he had no adequate legal remedy and that the District could never prevail in this case. He has made neither showing. He had an adequate remedy in DCRA's administrative review process, and the record does not show that DCRA's vacant building designation was "void," as Mr. Morgan asserts. Instead, Mr. Morgan simply failed to use the available review process, and the record shows that DCRA properly designated his building as vacant.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Court Should Affirm The Superior Court's Dismissal Of Mr. Morgan's Amended Complaint For Lack Of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

The Superior Court correctly dismissed Mr. Morgan's amended complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because he failed to satisfy the jurisdictional prerequisites for Superior Court review. The District's Anti-Injunction Act, D.C. Code § 47-3307, provides that "no suit shall be filed to enjoin the assessment or

collection by the District of Columbia or any of its officers, agents, or employees of any tax." Instead, because the right to appeal a tax assessment is exclusively statutory in nature, a taxpayer must satisfy the specific, statutorily prescribed requirements governing the appeal in question in order to invoke the jurisdiction of the Superior Court. District of Columbia v. Keyes, 362 A.2d 729, 732-33 (D.C. 1976); see Craig, 930 A.2d at 954 (To challenge a tax assessment, "a taxpayer must follow the specific, statutorily-prescribed procedures governing such suits."). "[O]nly after a property owner has appealed to the [Commission] and paid h[is] taxes may [he] petition the Superior Court . . . or review and for a tax refund." Craig, 930 A.2d at 954. Subject matter jurisdiction of the Superior Court does not attach until these prerequisites have been met. Id. Although "[t]ax statutes are necessarily formalistic and often technical[, i]t is essential that we adhere to their technicalities, even if at times a seeming hardship results to the taxpayer." Keyes, 362 A.2d at 737.

Here, Mr. Morgan is challenging the designation of his property as vacant and the resulting tax liability imposed by OTR. In addition, he seeks a refund of some taxes he paid in response. But he has not satisfied the jurisdictional prerequisites for judicial review. He did not appeal DCRA's vacant property designation to the Commission, and he did not pay the full amount of taxes, penalties, and interest owed before suing. Moreover, he has provided no basis for the Court to excuse these failures.

### A. Mr. Morgan failed to exhaust his administrative remedies.

Property owners who are "aggrieved by a decision of the Commission, with respect to . . . a [vacant property] notice issued [by DCRA] pursuant to § 42-3131.15, may appeal the decision of the Commission to the Superior Court." D.C. Code § 47-825.01a(g)(2). But here, Mr. Morgan was not "aggrieved" by a decision of the Commission. He never appealed DCRA's Section 42-3131.15 vacant property designation to the Commission for it to render a decision he could challenge in the Superior Court. Thus, he did not satisfy the statutory requirements for Superior Court review of DCRA's determination and the resulting tax assessment. D.C. Code § 47-825.01a(g)(2).

Indeed, Mr. Morgan did not even satisfy the statutory prerequisite for Commission review. To do so, he had to obtain a final determination from DCRA by seeking reconsideration of its vacant building determination. D.C. Code §§ 42-3131.15(a), (b) ("[A]n owner may file an appeal with the [Commission]; provided, that the notice of final determination under subsection (a) of this section shall be a prerequisite to filing an appeal with the [Commission]."); 47-813(d-1)(4A) ("A notice of final determination by the Mayor shall be a prerequisite before an appeal to the [Commission] may be taken."). But he did not seek reconsideration of DCRA's vacant building designation in 2019 or 2020. Instead, while he sought an exemption for tax years 2018 and 2019, he took no action after DCRA told him he

would need to claim an exemption for tax year 2020. Nor did he act after he purportedly received notice in March 2020 that DCRA designated his property as vacant.

In short, Mr. Morgan did not exhaust his administrative remedies before suing in the Superior Court. Indeed, he does not even allege exhaustion in his complaint. Thus, the Superior Court correctly found he had not met this jurisdictional prerequisite for judicial review. See Craig, 930 A.2d at 955 ("[M]embers of the purported class who did not utilize the statutorily-prescribed administrative process were without a statutory right to participate in a refund suit."). And although not the precise statutory grounds relied on by the Superior Court, this Court can affirm the Rule 12(b)(1) dismissal for failure to meet the jurisdictional requirements of Section 47-825.01a(g)(2). Subject-matter jurisdiction cannot be forfeited or waived, and here, the basis for dismissal for lack of jurisdiction is plainly apparent from the record. See In re Dapolito's Est., 331 A.2d 327, 328 (D.C. 1975) ("Whenever it affirmatively appears that the jurisdiction fails, the objection may be raised by the parties or the court itself."); see also Euclid St., LLC v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth., 41 A.3d 453, 457 n.2 (D.C. 2012) (emphasizing that challenges to the court's subject-matter jurisdiction cannot be waived).

B. Additionally, and independently, Mr. Morgan failed to satisfy the jurisdictional requirement that he pay the outstanding taxes, penalties, and interest owed before seeking review in the Superior Court.

Mr. Morgan also failed to satisfy the second jurisdictional prerequisite to judicial review—that he pay the outstanding taxes, penalties, and interest as required by Section 47-3303 before filing suit. See Agbaraji v. Aldridge, 836 A.2d 567, 569 (D.C. 2003) ("Like the anti-injunction statute, . . . [Section 47-3303] deprives the Superior Court of jurisdiction over a taxpayer's appeal if the tax has not been paid."). Under Section 47-825.01a(g)(2), "[a]n owner aggrieved by a decision of the Commission, with respect to . . . a notice issued pursuant to § 42-3131.15, may appeal the decision of the Commission to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in [Section] 47-3303." See Am. Bus Ass'n, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 2 A.3d 203, 209 (D.C. 2010) ("Some categories of taxes not specified in section 47-3303 are nonetheless subject to its terms because other provisions of law specifically state that assessments of those taxes may be challenged pursuant to section 47-3303."). And Section 47-3303 requires that a challenger "shall first pay [the challenged] tax together with penalties and interest due thereon." D.C. Code § 47-3303.

When he sued, Mr. Morgan owed about \$99,000 in taxes, penalties, and interest. SA 38. But he paid only \$50,000 toward that liability before filing his complaint. This was insufficient to invoke the Superior Court's jurisdiction, and Mr.

Morgan did not allege otherwise in his complaint. Once again, because this prerequisite implicates the Superior Court's subject-matter jurisdiction, it can be raised at any time, including for the first time on appeal. *See In re Dapolito's Est.*, 331 A.2d at 328.

# C. Mr. Morgan has not shown that the Superior Court had equitable authority to excuse the exhaustion requirement or otherwise grant injunctive relief.

Mr. Morgan did not argue below and does not claim on appeal that he satisfied the jurisdictional prerequisites for Superior Court review. Thus, any such contention is doubly forfeited. *See Pourbabai v. Bednarek*, 250 A.3d 1090, 1096 (D.C. 2021) (Appellant "forfeited the remaining arguments by failing to raise them before the trial court."); *Barber v. United States*, 179 A.3d 883, 893 n.19 (D.C. 2018) ("Appellant makes no such arguments in his appellate brief; therefore, any such arguments are forfeited."). Instead, he argues that equitable considerations warrant an exception to those requirements. Br. 10-11. He maintains that if a complaint shows that the tax is illegal and there are special and extraordinary circumstances, then the court may exercise equitable jurisdiction to enjoin the collection of taxes. Br. 10-11.

In *Williams Packing*, the Supreme Court held that not only must a plaintiff seeking an injunction despite the federal Anti–Injunction Act show the inadequacy of a legal remedy, but he must also show that "under no circumstances could the

Government ultimately prevail." *Enochs v. Williams Packing & Nav. Co.*, 370 U.S. 1, 7 (1962). Thus, "the proper standard for determining whether equitable relief may be obtained against the collection of any tax requires: 1) a finding that 'under no circumstances could the Government ultimately prevail,' and 2) that 'equity jurisdiction otherwise exists,' that is, proof of irreparable injury and inadequacy of the legal remedy." *Barry v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 563 A.2d 1069, 1075 (D.C. 1989) (quoting *Williams Packing*, 370 U.S. at 6-7); *see Craig*, 930 A.2d at 953 ("Outside the context of a tax refund suit, a plaintiff seeking declaratory or injunctive relief from a tax assessment can avoid the Anti-Injunction Act bar only by showing that two criteria are met: that there is no adequate legal remedy, and that under no circumstances could the Government ultimately prevail." (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Agbaraji*, 836 A.2d at 569 (same).

Mr. Morgan has not satisfied the standard for equitable relief. *First*, he had an adequate remedy at law. He could have sought reconsideration of DCRA's designation of his property as vacant in August 2019 (or 2020), and if DCRA had rejected his contention that the property was occupied, he could have appealed to the Commission, and then to the Superior Court. In addition, Mr. Morgan could have sought an exemption from tax reclassification in tax year 2020 as he had successfully done for tax years 2018 and 2019. Either challenge could have afforded him adequate relief.

Mr. Morgan generally asserts without any support that the pandemic undermined the adequacy of these remedies. Br. 12 But the pandemic could not account for his failure to challenge DCRA's August 2019 vacant building designation or to seek an exemption for tax year 2020, as he was instructed to do in December 2019. In addition, Mr. Morgan has not shown that, after ostensibly receiving a vacant property notice in 2020, he undertook any effort to contact DCRA about the notice, including submitting a Vacant Building Response Form as he had in 2019, let alone that he could not obtain relief after trying to challenge the vacancy designation or seek a tax reclassification exemption. Instead, Mr. Morgan had adequate remedies that he simply chose not to pursue.

Second, Mr. Morgan also did not carry his burden to show at the outset of the case that under no circumstances could the District ultimately prevail. See Craig, 930 A.2d at 958. While Mr. Morgan characterizes DCRA's determination to include his property on the vacant property list for the second half of 2020 as "void," that is simply not the case. Br. 4, 10.

Rather, DCRA properly designated Mr. Morgan's property as vacant in August 2019. Moreover, Mr. Morgan was explicitly told that he would need to seek an exemption for tax year 2020 in December 2019 and failed to act. Even if Mr. Morgan's building had been designated as vacant only in March 2020, as he claims here, he still failed to challenge that designation or seek an exemption from tax

reclassification for the second half of tax year 2020, or for tax year 2021. DCRA's failure to exclude Mr. Morgan's property from the vacant property list sent to OTR in the second half of tax year 2020 and 2021 was no error where no exemption was ever sought.

Nor has Mr. Morgan demonstrated that he was entitled to any pandemicrelated exemption from the vacant property list for 2020. The pandemic-related exemption applied to "commercial property that houses a business that ha[d] closed during a period of time for which the Mayor has declared a public health emergency pursuant to § 7-2304.01, as a result of the circumstances giving rise to or resulting from the public health emergency, and for 60 days thereafter." *Id.* § 42-3131.06(b)(10) (2020). While Mr. Morgan averred that he was operating a catering and take-out service in the building while it was under construction since 2018, SA 3-4, he has never claimed that he had a valid certificate of occupancy for the building during 2018, 2019, or 2020 that would have authorized him to operate a catering and take-out service while his building was under construction. Nor did he challenge DCRA's 2019 vacant property designation on the ground that his property was occupied by his catering and takeout business within the meaning of D.C. Code § 42-3131.05(3). SA 44. Instead, he sought an exemption from tax reclassification for tax years 2018 and 2019 based on the ongoing construction. SA 44. When doing so, he was told he would need to seek another exemption for tax year 2020. SA 27,

64.<sup>6</sup> Alternatively, he had to show that the property was no longer vacant, but validly occupied. Mr. Morgan did neither.

Third, and finally, Mr. Morgan's reliance on *Green* is unavailing. Br. 10. In *Green*, "the Tax Division reached the merits in a class action suit challenging real property tax assessments even though only three of the petitioners had pursued administrative appeals." *Craig*, 930 A.2d 958 n.14. In that case, the court excused the exhaustion requirement after finding "that the taxing authorities, deceitfully, did not inform the petitioning taxpayers that the level of their assessments had been changed until after the time by which they could have pursued an administrative remedy, thereby rendering their administrative remedy 'useless." *Tolu Tolu v. District of Columbia*, 906 A.2d 265, 267 (D.C. 2006).

Green, which this Court has characterized as having "limited precedential value," Craig, 930 A.2d 958 n.14, does not control the outcome here. For one, the Green decision "failed to take into account the Supreme Court's decision in Williams Packing." Id. Only post-Green has "the law in th[is] jurisdiction [been brought]

Notably, had Mr. Morgan secured an exemption for tax year 2020, under no circumstances would he have been entitled to one in 2021. Considering the exemptions he received in 2018 and 2019, an exemption in 2020 would have put him at the three-year cap. D.C. Code § 42-3131.06(f)(1) ("The cumulative time period for exemption from registration and fee requirements for a vacant building under the same, substantially similar, or related ownership shall not exceed 3 real property tax years.").

exactly into line with the law established by the Supreme Court." *Tolu Tolu*, 906 A.2d at 269. Moreover, "unlike here, no party in *Green* vigorously pressed the jurisdictional question." *Id.*; *see Green*, 310 A.2d at 852. *Green* additionally involved the exceedingly rare circumstance where the taxpayers could not obtain the relief they were seeking through OTR's administrative review process, which is not the case here.

In sum, Mr. Morgan has not carried his burden to show that he meets the twopart test for an equitable exception to enjoin the collection of taxes. The Superior Court properly dismissed Mr. Morgan's complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

### **CONCLUSION**

The Court should affirm.